
Obituary
T h e  l a t e  MR  Jo h n  p a r so n s  E a r w a k e r , M.A., F.S.A.

J O H N  P A R SO N S E A R W A K E R  w as born at Cheetham  H ill, 
near M anchester, on the 22nd of April, 1847. H is father, 

Mr. John Earw aker, w ho survives him, cam e about fifty  years 
ago from the villa ge  o f W est Meon, in H am pshire, w here 
his fam ily had resided for several centuries, and settled in 
M anchester w ith another W est Meon man, the late Richard 
Cobden, M .P., in whose house in Q uay Street, Mr. E arw aker, 
Senior, lived  for m any years, and w ith whom he was intim ately  
connected in business.

T he late Mr. J. P. E arw aker was educated at a private school 
at A lderley  Edge, at w hich place his father then lived, and w as 
afterw ards sent to a school in G erm any. On his return to 
E ngland, he studied for several years at Ow ens’ C ollege, 
w inn ing several prizes in N atural Science, and afterw ards 
w ent to Pem broke C ollege, C am bridge; but obtaining a 
Scholarship at Merton College, Oxford, he m igrated there in 
Novem ber, 1868. In 1872 he took his degree, ga in in g a first- 
class in N atural Science. A t th is time he had a few pupils, 
and remained at Oxford until 1874, keep ing m ost o f his term s 
at the Inner Tem ple, though he was never actually  called to 
the Bar. It was during his residence in Oxford that his love o f 
arclueology, born am ong the old churches and halls o f E ast 
C heshire, w as developed ; and the active part w hich he took, 
as its H onorary Secretary, in the m anagem ent o f the Oxford 
A rclueological Society, soon brought him into close intim acy 
w ith  the late John H enry Parker, C .B ., during whose residence 
in Rome, in the years 1873 - 4, he w as appointed to the respon­
sible office o f  D eputy-K eeper o f the Ashm olean Museum.

In January, 1873, he was elected a Fellow  o f the S ociety  o f 
Antiquaries, and subsequently held the office o f Focal Secretary 
o f that S ociety  for Cheshire and N orth W ales for a num ber o f 
years.
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On the first o f June, 1S75, he married Miss Juliet Bergman, 
a daughter o f Mr. J. G. Bergm an o f Colinshays, near Bruton, 
in Som ersetshire, and sister o f  the late M ajor-General Herbert 
Bergm an, o f the 19th Punjaub N ative Infantry, w hich went 
through the last A fgh an  Cam paign. B y her he had three 
daughters and three sons, all o f whom survive their father.

In 1875 he went to reside at W ithington, near Manchester, 
and during the rest o f his life devoted the greater part o f his 
tim e to literary  and archaeological work. H is earliest publica­
tions appeared in the “  Manchester Courier, ”  under the title of 
“  Local Cleanings,”  from April 1875, to January 1878, and 
were eagerly  looked forward to each w eek b y m any persons 
interested in local history. These contributions were reprinted 
in tw o volumes, w hich were followed in 1879-80 b y the “  Local 
Gleanings' M agazine,”  a more am bitious publication, o f which 
on ly  one volum e appeared, as its Editor had becom e too busily 
engaged in w riting his im portant work on the history of 
“ E as t  C heshire"  to adm it o f justice being done to the sm aller 
publication. A s one who spent m any pleasant w eeks in 
com pany w ith the A uthor in the acquisition and w orkin g up of 
m aterials for “  E a st Cheshire," the w riter can confidently say 
that w ith Mr. Earvvaker that w ork w as indeed a labour o f love. 
W ith  characteristic en ergy and thoroughness, he overcam e all 
obstacles to procure from the fountain-head each item  of 
inform ation that he required ; and even when a second journey 
across the county w as involved to com pare a doubtful word on 
a m onum ental inscription or to re-inspect a p u zzlin g  en try in a 
parish register, it was w illin g ly  undertaken.

In th is w ork he w as ably supported by his w ife, whose 
graceful and accurate draw ings so grea tly  add to the interest 
and value o f these tw o handsome volumes. No expense was 
spared to secure absolute accuracy and com pleteness as far as 
possible ; and, rather than avail h im self o f the published work 
o f others, he large ly  increased the cost o f gath erin g materials 
for his book b y  usin g only fresh copies o f original documents, 
for the most part made by h im self at the Public Record Office, 
the B ritish Museum, and the Probate R egistries, or in the 
m unim ent rooms o f the local landow ners and the vestries of 
the old parish churches. It was in this spirit that he worked. 
H e was, in fact, one o f the first o f those whose persistent habit
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o f g iv in g  and requiring the authority for any statem ent has 
set an exam ple w hich has made the old sty le  o f inaccurate 
“  traditional ”  local history a th in g o f the past.

The second volum e o f “  E a st C h esh ire"  appeared in 1880; 
and in 1881 Mr. E arw aker rem oved to Pensarn. Here, besides 
devoting a considerable part o f  his time to public m atters in 
his cap acity  o f Chairm an o f the Local Board, President o f the 
large and flourishing Law n T en n is C lub (his own creation), 
President o f the C onservative Association, and Churchw arden of 
A bergele, he occupied h im self w ith literature and a rc h e o lo g y  
as a profession. He produced w hat m ay well be called a 
m onum ental w ork in the “ M anchester Court Leet Records" and 
“  Constables' Accounts,”  w hich are printed in fifteen large 
volum es copiously annotated, and are too w ell-know n to need 
description here. He also published valuable contributions 
to Cheshire history in his “ History o f  Sandbach"  and 
“  Roman Remains at Chester,”  both o f these w orks being 
beau tifu lly  illustrated b y his w ife ; and besides these he 
printed a num ber o f pam phlets d ealin g w ith some o f his 
favourite subjects, am ong them  an excellen t account o f the 
fam ily  o f the Randle H olm es o f C hester, and their m anu­
scripts ; and another on the old Deeds preserved at A gecroft 
Hall, near M anchester. But probably the books proceeding 
from Mr. E arw aker’s stu d y w hich are the best known and most 
w id ely  used, are the seven volum es o f the Index to the W ills  
at Chester, from 1545 to 1760 ; a w ork in volvin g an im m ense 
am ount o f labour, w hich he edited gratu itou sly  for the L a n ­
cashire and Cheshire Record Society. These volum es, to 
outward appearance, contain only mere dry lists o f names 
w ith d a te s ; but their value to students o f local h istory  is 
incalculable, and their po p u larity  am ong w orkin g antiquaries 
is one o f the g ra tify in g  evidences o f that exactness in modern 
genealogical research w hich contrasts so favourably w ith  
sim ilar w ork in days gone by, when it w as not sought to 
draw up a true pedigree but a pretentious one.

He also edited a series o f A bstracts o f W ills for the Chetham  
Society , and com pleted the editin g o f the V isitation  of L a n ­
cashire, 1533, com m enced b y  the late W illiam  Langton, for the 
sam e Society . H e contributed a num ber o f interesting papers 
to. the Transactions o f the H istoric S ociety  o f Lancashire and
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Cheshire, the Chester Archaeological and H istoric Society, and 
the Lancashire and Cheshire A ntiquarian S ociety  ; and not 
infrequen tly  was a contributor to th e “  Athenceum ,”  the 
"A ca d em y ,"  and “ Notes and Queries."

A s one o f the founders and H onorary Secretary  o f the 
Record Society, and as a M ember o f the Council o f the 
C hetham  Society and o f the respective C ouncils o f the three 
other Societies ju s t named, his advice and help w ill be m uch 
m issed, and he w ill lon g be rem em bered w ith  k in d ly  feeling 
and profound respect b y  a large circle o f friends w ith m any of 
whom  he was for upwards o f tw en ty  years associated in the 
w ork of garnering m aterials for the true h istory  o f the twin 
Counties Palatine. Had his life been prolonged, it was his 
intention to attem pt to w rite an en tirely  new history o f the 
C ou n ty  o f Lancaster, a task w hich would have appalled m any 
a less ardent worker, but for which his exten sive local kn ow ­
ledge, unusual abilities, and active tem peram ent, peculiarly 
fitted him ; and he only w aited the com pletion of the "H istory  
o f  St. M ary s Church, Chester," upon w hich he was engaged 
at the tim e o f his death, to begin w hat w ould have been 
the crow ning w ork o f a life  honestly devoted to brin gin g 
into the lig h t o f day w hat could be learned o f  the people o f 
“ the days o f old and the years that are p a st.”  W ith  this 
object in view , he had formed Lancashire collections, both in 
m anuscript and in print, w hich are unequalled b y  an y other in 
private hands o f a like  kind, unless it be b y  his own tru ly  
m agnificent library o f C heshire m anuscripts, printed books, 
engravings, maps, broadsides and pam phlets. It is to be hoped 
that these treasures, the result o f years o f carefu l and critical 
search in alm ost every  part o f the kingdom  w ill be preserved 
together as a m onum ent to the m em ory o f th eir accom plished 
owner and for the use o f the public, and that public sp irit will 
intervene to prevent them from being scattered and their 
value and usefulness lessened in the auction room.

Mr. E arw aker was a man alw ays w illin g to afford help, so far 
as lay  in his power, to those who were w o rkin g on his own 
honest lines ; but w ith careless, uiiconscientious, or insufficient 
w ork he had no sym pathy and little patience. A  labourer in 
the field o f Archaeology, who is now engaged upon an im portant 
local w ork, writes :—■“  He was a great friend to me, and helped
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and encouraged me at all tim es, in such wise that I shall never 
cease to th in k  o f him w ith  k in d ly  m em ory as one o f the best 
friends I ever h ad .”

H is last illn ess began in the autum n o f 1894, and ended 
fatally , at Pensarn, on the 29th o f January, 1895. On the 
2nd o f February, when the ground was w hite w ith snow, he 
was laid to rest in the old C hurch-yard o f A bergele, in the 
presence o f his fam ily and a v e ry  large num ber o f friends and 
neighbours, w ho w ill not readily  forget the solemn service, 
the powerful effect o f the sw eet voices o f the W elsh choir, the 
soft m usic o f the muffled peal, and the m arked respect and 
sym path y shewn everyw here throughout the town.

J. P- R.


